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Figure 4 

72. Techtronic Power Tools owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in 

and to each of the Asserted Patents.  Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(ii), certified 

copies of the assignment record for ’944 patent is attached as Exhibit 36.

73. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(1), Complainants have filed with this 

Complaint certified copies of the prosecution history of the ’944 patent as Appendix E.  In 

addition, pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c)(2), Complainants have filed with this 

Complaint four copies of each patent and applicable pages of each technical reference mentioned 

in the prosecution history of the ’944 patent as Appendix F.

D. Foreign Counterparts 

74. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(a)(9)(v), Complainants state that they are not 

aware of any foreign patents or patent applications (including any that have been denied, 

abandoned or withdrawn) corresponding to the ’868 patent.

75. With respect to the ’353 patent, Techtronic Power Tools states that it has a 

granted and extant Canadian design patent, CA127,953 corresponding to the ’353 patent.  

Complainants are not aware of any additional foreign patents or patent applications (including 

any that have been denied, abandoned or withdrawn) corresponding to the ’353 patent.

76. With respect to the ’944 patent, other than being a continuation of the ’353 patent, 

and related to CA127,953 (see above), Complainants state that they are not aware of any foreign 

patents or patent applications (including any that have been denied, abandoned or withdrawn) 
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corresponding to the ’944 patent.

E. Licensees 

77. Techtronic Power Tools has not licensed any of the Asserted Patents.

V. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS OF THE PROPOSED RESPONDENTS 

78. Respondents have engaged in unlawful and unfair acts including the sale for 

importation into the United States, the importation into the United States, and/or the sale within 

the United States after importation of accused battery packs that infringe one or more of the 

Asserted Patents.  The table in Paragraph 12, supra, identifies which Respondents infringes each 

of the Asserted Patents.

79. Each of the Respondents’ products directly infringe one or more of the Asserted 

Patents because, in the eye of an ordinary observer and giving such attention as a purchaser 

usually gives, the designs of the Respondent’s battery packs are substantially the same as the 

design embodied and claimed in the Asserted Patents, such that an ordinary observer would be 

deceived into believing that Respondents’ designs are the same as the designs embodied and 

claimed in the Asserted Patents.  For example:

’868 Patent Figure 1 Representative 
RYOBI  Battery 

Infringing Jolege® Battery 

Figure 5 
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80. On information and belief, the opportunity for additional discovery will likely 

result in the identification of additional battery packs which infringe one or more of the Asserted 

Patents, as well as additional manufacturers, importers, distributors, and retailers of such 

infringing batteries.

A. Patent Infringement by Darui Development / Topbatt®

81. On information and belief, Darui Development, either individually, or in 

association with Respondents Shenzhen Rich Hao and/or Shenzhen Industrial, imports into the 

United States, sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least 

the “18V 6.0Ah Battery for Ryobi Lithium Ion ONE+ Plus P102 P103 P104 P105 P107 P108 

P109 P122 Cordless Power Tools” (the “Topbatt Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 117-119, infra. 

82. Claim charts demonstrating that the Topbatt® Battery literally infringes each of 

the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 37.

B. Patent Infringement by Dongguan Electronic / energup® / Powilling®

83. On information and belief, Dongguan Electronic, either individually, or in 

association with Respondent Shenzhen Laipaili, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “Energup P108 

4000mAh Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery Pack Replacement for Ryobi 18-Volt ONE+ P104 P105 

P102 P103 P107 Tool” (the “Energup Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 120-122, infra.

84. On information and belief, Dongguan Electronic imports into the United States, 

sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the 

“Powilling 2Pack 5.0Ah 18V Replacement Battery for Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery P102 P103 

P105 P107 P108 P109 Ryobi ONE+ Cordless Tool” (the “Powilling Battery”).  See ⁋ 123, infra. 

85. Claim charts demonstrating that the Energup Battery and Powilling Battery 

literally infringe each of the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibits 38 and 39, 
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respectively. 

C. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Industrial / Boetpcr® / Reoben® / Topbatt®

86. On information and belief, Shenzhen Industrial imports into the United States, 

sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “Boetpcr 

P108 Replacement for Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery 4.0Ah One Plus P122 P102 P103 P104 P105 

P107 P109 Cordless Power Tools 2Pack” (the “Boetpcr Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 125-126, infra.

87. Claim charts demonstrating that the Boetpcr Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 40.

88. On information and belief, Shenzhen Industrial also imports into the United 

States, sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “2 

Pack 4.0Ah P108 Replacement for Ryobi 18V Battery Lithium One+ Plus P100 P102 P103 P104 

P105 P107 Crodless [sic] Power Tools” (the “Reoben Battery”).  See ⁋ 127, infra. 

89. A claim chart demonstrating that the Reoben Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents is attached hereto as Exhibit 41.

90. On information and belief, Shenzhen Industrial, either individually, or in 

association with Respondents Darui Development and/or Shenzhen Rich Hao, imports into the 

United States, sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least 

the Topbatt Battery.  See ⁋ 124, infra.

91. Claim charts demonstrating that the Topbatt Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents is attached hereto as Exhibits 37.

D. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Laipaili / Energup®

92. On information and belief, Shenzhen Laipaili, either individually, or in 

association with Respondent Dongguan Electronic, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the Energup Battery.  
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See ⁋ 128, infra.

93. Claim charts demonstrating that the Energup Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 38.

E. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen MingYang / Lasica® / Biswaye®

94. On information and belief, Shenzhen MingYang imports into the United States, 

sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “Lasica 

Lithium 18V Battery 4.0Ah for All Ryobi 18-Volt Battery P108 P103 P102 P104 P105 P107 

P109 P122 P206 with On-board Fuel Gauge (4.0Ah 1 Pack) High Capacity” (the “Lasica 

Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 129-131, infra.

95. Claim charts demonstrating that the Lasica Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 42.

96. On information and belief, Shenzhen MingYang, either individually, or in 

association with third party Mr. Juan Li, imports into the United States, sells for importation, 

and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “Biswaye P108 18V 5000mAh 

Lithium Ion Rechargeable Replacement Battery for Ryobi ONE+ Cordless Power Tool P102 

P103 P104 P105 P107 P108 P109 P100” (the “Biswaye Battery”).  See ⁋ 132, infra.

97. Claim charts demonstrating that the Biswaye Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 43.

F. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Ollop Technology Co Ltd. / jolege®

98. On information and belief, Shenzhen Ollop, either individually, or in association 

with respondent Shenzhen Uni-Sun, imports into the United States, sells for importation, and/or 

sells within the United States after importation at least the “jolege Ryobi P108 18V 4.0Ah 

Lithium Battery Replacement for Ryobi P108 One Plus P104 P105 P102 P103 P107 P109 P122 

P206 P507 BPL-1815 BPL-1820G BPL18151 18-Volt Ryobi Cordless Power Tools (2 Pack)” 
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(the “Jolege Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 133-135, infra.

99. Claim charts demonstrating that the Jolege Battery literally infringes each of the 

Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 44.

G. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Rich Hao / Fhybat® / Topbatt®

100. On information and belief, Shenzhen Rich Hao imports into the United States, 

sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “Fhybat 

for Ryobi 18v Battery Replacement ONE+ P100 P104 P105 P110 130224007 High Capacity 

Cordless Power Tools 18 Volt Batteries 2 Packs” (the “Fhybat Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 136-138, infra.

101. On information and belief, Shenzhen Rich Hao, either individually, or in 

association with Respondents Darui Development and/or Shenzhen Industrial, imports into the 

United States, sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least 

the Topbatt® Battery.  See ⁋ 136, infra.

102. Claim charts demonstrating that the Fhybat Battery literally infringes at least the 

’868 and ’944 patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 45.  Claim charts demonstrating that the 

Topbatt Battery literally infringes each of the Asserted Patents is attached hereto as Exhibit 37.

H. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Trading / Enegitech®

103. On information and belief, Shenzhen Trading, either individually, or in 

association with respondent Shenzhen Vmartego, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “Enegitech 18V 

P108 Lithium ion Battery Replacement 4000mAh for Ryobi One Plus P108 P109 P122 P102 

P103 P104 P105 P107 Cordless Power Tools” (the “Enegitech Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 139-141, infra.

104. Claim charts demonstrating that the Enegitech Battery literally infringes each of 

the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 46.



24 

I. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Saen / SUN POWER 

105. On information and belief, Shenzhen Saen imports into the United States, sells for 

importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “SUN POWER 

2500mAh for Ryobi 18v One Plus Lithium Ion Battery P102 P103 P105 P107 P108 P109 

Compact ONE+ Cordless Tool (2-Pack)” (the “SUN POWER Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 142-143, infra.

106. Claim charts demonstrating that the SUN POWER Battery literally infringes at 

least the ’868 and ’944 patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 47.

J. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen E-Commerce / FUZADEL®

107. On information and belief, Shenzhen E-Commerce imports into the United States, 

sells for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the 

“FUZADEL 4.0Ah Battery Replacement for Ryobi 18v One Plus Lithium-Ion Battery P122 

P105 P102 P107 P108 P103” (the “FUZADEL Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 144-146, infra.

108. Claim charts demonstrating that the FUZADEL Battery literally infringes each of 

the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 48.

K. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Tuo Yu / Enermall®

109. On information and belief, Shenzhen Tuo Yu imports into the United States, sells 

for importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the “5.0Ah for 

Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery P108 ONE+ P104 P105 P103 P107 P109 Cordless Power Tools 

Battery ENERMALL” (the “Enermall Battery”).  See ⁋⁋ 147-149, infra. 

110. Claim charts demonstrating that the Enermall Battery literally infringes each of 

the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 49. 

L. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Uni-Sun / jolege®

111. On information and belief, Shenzhen Uni-Sun, either individually, or in 

association with respondent Shenzhen Ollop, imports into the United States, sells for 
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importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the Jolege Battery.  

See ⁋ 150, infra.

112. A claim chart demonstrating that the Jolege Battery literally infringes the ’868 

patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 44.

M. Patent Infringement by Shenzhen Vmartego / Enegitech®

113. On information and belief, Shenzhen Vmartego, either individually, or in 

association with Respondent Shenzhen Trading, imports into the United States, sells for 

importation, and/or sells within the United States after importation at least the Enegitech®

Battery.  See ⁋ 151, infra.

114. Claim charts demonstrating that the Enegitech® Battery literally infringes each of 

the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibit 46. 

VI. SPECIFIC ACTS OF UNFAIR IMPORTATION AND SALE 

115. On information and belief, Respondents will continue importing, selling for 

importation, and/or selling within the United States after importation batteries that infringe one 

or more of the Asserted Patents, in violation of Section 337.

116. Complainants have obtained, in the United States, representative samples of at 

least one infringing battery from each Respondent.  Specific instances of importation, sale for 

importation, and/or sale within the United States after importation of infringing batteries by 

Respondents are summarized below.

A. Importation and Sale by Darui Development / Topbatt®

117. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Topbatt 

Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation 

by, on behalf of, Darui Development, either individually, or in association with Shenzhen 

Industrial, and/or Shenzhen Rich Hao. 
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118. As set forth above, Shenzhen Industrial is the owner, by assignment, of the United 

States Trademark Topbatt® (see ⁋ 23, supra), which was registered by Shenzhen Rich Hao (see 

⁋ 36, supra). 

119. On January 22, 2019, the Topbatt Battery was purchased on the “Darui 

Development” storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Darui Development 

storefront states, inter alia, that Darui Development is “engaged in design and manufacture 

varieties [sic] of batteries for Power Tool with good quality and competitive price.”  See Exhibit 

50.  The Topbatt Battery was described as a “18V 6.0Ah Battery for Ryobi Lithium Ion ONE+ 

Plus P102 P103 P104 P105 P107 P108 P109 P122 Cordless Power Tools,” as shown in the 

Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 51.  The battery was received in the United States on 

January 23, 2019, and is clearly labeled “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 52.  The same and/or 

similar infringing Topbatt-branded battery packs are being sold through at least the Darui 

Development storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 53. 

B. Importation and Sale by Dongguan Electronic / energup® / Powilling®

120. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Energup 

and Powilling Batteries, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States 

after importation by, or on behalf of, Dongguan Electronic, either individually, or, with respect 

to the Energup Battery, in association with Shenzhen Laipaili. 

121. As set forth above, Dongguan Electronic is the owner of the trademark energup®

in China, and third party Xiaoling Yu, a shareholder in Dongguan Electronic, is the registrant 

and/or owner of the United States Trademark energup®.  See ⁋ 16, supra.  Dongguan Electronic 

is also the owner of the trademark Powilling® in China.  Id.  Shenzhen Laipaili is the registrant 

and/or owner of the European Trademark energup®.  See ⁋ 20, supra. 

122. On July 20, 2018, the Energup Battery was purchased from the “Energup” 
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storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Energup storefront prominently features the 

energup® mark and provides a “customer service” email address with a .CN (i.e. China) country-

code top-level domain.  See Exhibit 54.  The Energup storefront further states “Energup is a 

reputed professional manufacturer of high quality power tool batteries and battery-related 

accessories.”  Id.  The Energup Battery was described as an “Energup P108 4000mAh Ryobi 

18V Lithium Battery Pack Replacement for Ryobi 18-Volt ONE+ P104 P105 P102 P103 P107 

Tool,” as shown in the Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 55.  The Energup Battery was 

received in the United States July 23, 2018, and is clearly labeled “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 

56.  The same and/or similar infringing Energup-branded battery packs are being offered for sale 

through at least the Energup storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 57. 

123. On January 22, 2019, the Powilling® Battery was purchased from the “XNJTG” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The XNJTG storefront prominently displays the 

Powilling® mark, and describes Powilling as “a professional manufacturer for cordless tools [sic] 

batteries for more than 10 years.”  See Exhibit 58.  The Powilling Battery was described as a 

“Powilling 2Pack 5.0Ah 18V Replacement Battery for Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery P102 P103 

P105 P107 P108 P109 Ryobi ONE+ Cordless Tool,” as shown in the Internet screenshot attached 

as Exhibit 59.  The Powilling Battery was received in the United States on January 24, 2019, and 

is clearly labeled “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 60.  The same and/or similar infringing 

Powilling-branded battery packs are being offered for sale though at least the Powilling 

storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 61. 

C. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Industrial / Boetpcr® / Reoben® / 
Topbatt®

124. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents are imported, sold 

for importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation by, on behalf of, Shenzhen 
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Industrial, or, with respect to the Topbatt Battery, in association with Darui Development and/or 

Shenzhen Rich Hao.  See ⁋⁋ 117-119, supra. 

125. As set forth above, Shenzhen Industrial is the owner of the trademark Boetpcr® in 

China.  See ⁋ 23, supra.  Shenzhen Industrial is also the owner of the trademark Reoben® in 

China.  Id. 

126. On July 20, 2018, the Boetpcr Battery was purchased from the “Boetpcr” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Boetpcr storefront prominently displays the 

Boetpcr® mark.  See Exhibit 62.  The Boetpcr Battery was described as a “Boetpcr P108 

Replacement for Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery 4.0Ah One Plus P122 P102 P103 P104 P105 P107 

P109 Cordless Power Tools 2Pack,” as shown in the Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 63.  

The Boetpcr Battery was received in the United States on July 23, 2018, and is clearly marked 

“Made in China.”  See Exhibit 64.  The same and/or similar infringing Boetpcr-branded battery 

packs are being offered for sale through at least the Boetpcr storefront as of the filing of this 

Complaint.  See Exhibit 65. 

127. On January 22, 2018, the Reoben Battery was purchased from the “Reoben” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Reoben storefront prominently displays the 

Reoben® mark, and describes Reoben as “a brand dedicated to the production and sale of tool 

batteries and chargers….”  See Exhibit 66.  The Reoben Battery was described as a “2 Pack 

4.0Ah P108 Replacement for Ryobi 18V Battery Lithium One+ Plus P100 P102 P103 P104 P105 

P107 Crodless [sic] Power Tools,” as shown in the Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 67.  

The battery was received in the United States on January 23, 2019, and is clearly labeled “Made 

in China.”  See Exhibit 68.  The same and/or similar infringing Reoben-branded battery packs 

are being offered for sale through at least the Reoben storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  
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See Exhibit 69. 

D. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Laipaili / energup®

128. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Energup 

Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation 

by, on behalf of, Shenzhen Laipaili, either individually, or in association with Dongguan 

Electronic.  See ⁋⁋ 120-122, supra.

E. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen MingYang / Lasica® / Biswaye®

129. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Lasica®

and Biswaye® Batteries, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States 

after importation by, or behalf of, Shenzhen MingYang.

130. As set forth above, Shenzhen MingYang is the registrant and/or owner of the 

United States Trademark Lasica®, and the registrant and/or owner of the European Trademark 

Biswaye®.  See ⁋⁋ 28-29.

131. On July 20, 2018, the Lasica Battery was purchased from the “Lasica Direct US” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Lasica Direct US storefront prominently 

displays the Lasica® mark.  See Exhibit 70.  The Lasica Battery was described as a “Lasica 

Lithium 18V Battery 4.0Ah for All Ryobi 18-Volt Battery P108 P103 P102 P104 P105 P107 

P109 P122 P206 with On-board Fuel Gauge (4.0Ah 1 Pack) High Capacity,” as shown in the 

Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 71.  The battery was received in the United States on July 

23, 2018, and is clearly marked “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 72.

132. On July 20, 2018, the Biswaye Battery was purchased from the “GDLIFE” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The GDLIFE storefront prominently displays 

the Biswaye® mark and states, inter alia, that “[o]ur company was established in 2003, localed 

[sic] in ShenZhen of China.”  See Exhibit 73.  The Biswaye Battery was described as a “Biswaye 
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P108 18V 5000mAh Lithium Ion Rechargeable Replacement Battery for Ryobi ONE+ Cordless 

Power Tool P102 P103 P104 P105 P107 P108 P109 P100,” as shown in the Internet screenshot 

attached as Exhibit 74.  The battery was received in the United States on July 24, 2018, and is 

clearly labeled “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 75.  The same and/or similar infringing Biswaye-

branded battery packs are being offered for sale through at least the GDLIFE storefront as of the 

filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 76. 

F. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Ollop Technology Co. Ltd. / jolege®

133. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Jolege 

Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation 

by, or behalf of, Shenzhen Ollop, either individually, or in association with Shenzhen Uni-Sun.

134. The Jolege Batteries identify Shenzhen Ollop as the battery manufacturer.  See

Exhibit 77.  Shenzhen Uni-Sun is the registrant and/or owner of the United States Trademark 

jolege®.  See ⁋ 53, supra.

135. On July 20, 2018, the Jolege Battery was purchased from the “JolegeUS” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Jolege Battery was described as a “jolege 

Ryobi P108 18V 4.0Ah Lithium Battery Replacement for Ryobi P108 One Plus P104 P105 P102 

P103 P107 P109 P122 P206 P507 BPL-1815 BPL-1820G BPL18151 18-Volt Ryobi Cordless 

Power Tools (2 Pack),” as shown in the Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 78.  The Jolege 

Battery was received in the United States on July 23, 2018, and is clearly marked “Made in 

China.”  See Exhibit 77.

G. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Rich Hao / Fhybat® / Topbatt®

136. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Fhybat 

and Topbatt Batteries, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States 

after importation by, or on behalf of, Shenzhen Rich Hao, either individually, or, with respect to 
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the Topbatt Battery, in association with Darui Development and/or Shenzhen Industrial.  See

⁋⁋ 117-119, supra. 

137. As set forth above, Shenzhen Rich Hao is the registrant and/or owner of the 

United States Trademark Fhybat®.  See ⁋ 36, supra.  Shenzhen Rich Hao is also the registrant of 

the United States Trademark Topbatt®.

138. On July 20, 2018, the Fhybat Battery was purchased from the “Novcor Factory 

Store” storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Novcor Factory Store storefront 

states, inter alia, that “Novcor is an electronics manufacturer with sales in… North America,” 

and that “‘Fhybat’ is the brand name for Novcor.”  See Exhibit 79.  The Fhybat Battery was 

described as “Fhybat for Ryobi 18v Battery Replacement ONE+ P100 P104 P105 P110 

130224007 High Capacity Cordless Power Tools 18 Volt Batteries 2 Packs,” as shown in the 

Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 80.  The Fhybat Battery was received in the United States 

on July 23, 2018, and is clearly marked “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 81.  The same and/or 

similar infringing Fhybat-branded battery packs are being offered for sale through at least the 

Novcor Factory Store storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 82. 

H. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Trading / Enegitech®

139. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the 

Enegitech Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after 

importation by, or on behalf of, Shenzhen Trading, either individually, or in association with 

Shenzhen Vmartego.

140. As set forth above, Shenzhen Trading is the registrant of the United States 

Trademark Enegitech®.  See ⁋ 40, supra.  Shenzhen Vmartego is the owner, by assignment, of 

the United States Trademark Enegitech®.  See ⁋ 56, supra.

141. On September 11, 2018, the Enegitech Battery was purchased from the 
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“Enegitech” storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The Enegitech storefront 

prominently displays the Enegitech® mark.  See Exhibit 83.  The Enegitech Battery was 

described as an “Enegitech 18V P108 Lithium ion Battery Replacement 4000mAh for Ryobi 

One Plus P108 P109 P122 P102 P103 P104 P105 P107 Cordless Power Tools,” as shown in the 

Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 84.  The Enegitech Battery was received in the United 

States on September 19, 2018, and is clearly labeled “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 85. 

I. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Saen / SUN POWER 

142. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the SUN 

POWER Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after 

importation by, or on behalf of, Shenzhen Saen.  See ⁋ 44, supra.

143. On July 20, 2018, the SUN POWER Battery was purchased from the “SUN 

POWER” storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The SUN POWER storefront on 

Amazon states, inter alia, that “SUN POWER is specialize [sic] in producing and rearching [sic] 

batteries of power tools,” and that “SUN POWER sells batteries are [sic] a [sic] extremely low 

prices cause [sic] we are [sic] manufacturer.”  See Exhibit 86.  The SUN POWER battery is 

described as a “SUN POWER 2500mAh for Ryobi 18v One Plus Lithium Ion Battery P102 P103 

P105 P107 P108 P109 Compact ONE+ Cordless Tool (2-Pack),” as shown in the Internet 

screenshot attached as Exhibit 87.  The SUN POWER battery was received in the United States 

on July 23, 2018, and is clearly marked “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 88.  The same and/or 

similar infringing SUN POWER-branded battery packs are being offered for sale through at least 

the SUN POWER storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 89. 

J. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen E-Commerce / FUZADEL®

144. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the 

FUZADEL Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after 
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importation by, or on behalf of, Shenzhen E-Commerce.

145. Shenzhen E-Commerce is the registrant and/or owner of the United States 

Trademark FUZADEL®.  See ⁋ 47, supra. 

146. On July 20, 2018, the FUZADEL Battery was purchased from the “UP-First” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The FUZADEL Battery was described as a 

“FUZADEL 4.0Ah Battery Replacement for Ryobi 18v One Plus Lithium-Ion Battery P122 

P105 P102 P107 P108 P103,” as shown in the Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 90.  The 

FUZADEL Battery was received in the United States on July 23, 2018, and is clearly marked 

“Made in China.”  See Exhibit 91. 

K. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Tuo Yu / Enermall®

147. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Enermall 

Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation 

by, or on behalf of, Shenzhen Tuo Yu.

148. As set forth above, Shenzhen Tuo Yu is the registrant and/or owner of the United 

States Trademark Enermall®.  See ⁋ 50, supra.

149. On July 20, 2018, the Enermall Battery was purchased from the “ENERMALL” 

storefront on a third party e-commerce website.  The ENERMALL storefront states, inter alia, 

that “ENERMALL is a manufacturer and seller of power tool batteries and accessories.”  See

Exhibit 92.  The ENERMALL Battery was described as a “5.0Ah for Ryobi 18V Lithium Battery 

P108 ONE+ P104 P105 P103 P107 P109 Cordless Power Tools Battery ENERMALL,” as 

shown in the Internet screenshot attached as Exhibit 93.  The ENERMALL Battery was received 

in the United States on August 2, 2018, and is clearly marked “Made in China.”  See Exhibit 94.  

The same and/or similar infringing ENERMALL-branded battery packs are being offered for 

sale through at least the ENERMALL storefront as of the filing of this Complaint.  See Exhibit 



34 

95. 

L. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Uni-Sun / jolege®

150. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the Jolege 

Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation 

by, or behalf of, Shenzhen Uni-Sun, either individually, or in association with Shenzhen Ollop.  

See ⁋⁋ 133-135, supra.

M. Importation and Sale by Shenzhen Vmartego / Enegitech®

151. Batteries which infringe one or more of the Asserted Patents, such as the 

Enegitech Battery, are imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States after 

importation by, or on behalf of, Shenzhen Vmartego, either individually, or in association with 

Shenzhen Trading.  See ⁋⁋ 139-141, supra.

VII. RELATED LITIGATION 

152. On July 11, 2011, Complainants One World and Techtronic Power Tools, along 

with Milwaukee Electric Tool Corporation, Techtronic Industries Company Limited, and A&M 

Industries S.A.R.L., filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Western District 

of Wisconsin, asserting, inter alia, infringement of the Asserted Patents by Audiovox 

Corporation, Audiovox Accessories Corporation, Technuity, Inc., Batteries.com, LLC, and Fine 

Dragon Technology Limited.  Case number 11-CV-517-WMC was terminated on December 18, 

2012, by consent judgment.

153. Complainants are unaware of any other court or agency litigation related to the 

Asserted Patents.

VIII. CLASSIFICATION UNDER THE HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE OF THE 
UNITED STATES 

154. On information and belief, the products at issue may be classified under at least 
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the following heading of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States:  8507.60.0020.

IX. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY 

155. A domestic industry, as defined by 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2)-(3), exists by virtue of 

One World’s significant investment in plant and equipment, significant employment of labor or 

capital, and substantial investment in the exploitation of the Asserted Patents, through its 

activities in the United States directed to batteries which practice the Asserted Patents.

A. The Technical Prong 

156. Each of the batteries in the RYOBI™ 18V ONE+® battery platform satisfies the 

technical prong of the domestic industry requirement by incorporating each of the designs 

protected by the Asserted Patents.  For example, the attached claim charts exemplify how the 

representative RYOBI™ 18V ONE+® Lithium+™ HP 3.0AH High Capacity Battery Model 

P192 (the “RYOBI™ P192 Battery”) embodies each of the designs claimed in the Asserted 

Patents.  See Exhibit 96.

157. A physical sample of the RYOBI™ P192 Battery is included with this Complaint 

as Physical Exhibit 1.

158. The other batteries in the RYOBI™ 18V ONE+® battery platform also 

incorporate the design claimed in the ’868 patent, including, but not limited to, the RYOBI™ 

P108, P191, and P193 Batteries.  See Exhibits 97, 98, and 99, respectively.

B. The Economic Prong 

159. An industry, as defined in Section 337(a)(3), exists in the United States by virtue 

of One World’s significant and substantial investments directed to the RYOBI™ 18V ONE+®

battery platform battery packs, including, but not limited to, the RYOBI™ P192 Battery, that are 

protected by each of the Asserted Patents (collectively, the “Domestic Industry Batteries”).

160. With the exception of mass production, distribution, and warehousing, nearly all 
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of One World’s activities related to the Domestic Industry Batteries occur at its corporate 

headquarters, located at 100 Innovation Way, Anderson, South Carolina 29621 (the “Innovation 

Center”).  These activities, include, but are not limited to, battery pack design and engineering; 

the fabrication of battery pack components for development and testing; battery pack testing; 

customer service and technical support; the creation of battery pack user manuals and other 

customer-facing documents; and the marketing and advertising of battery packs.  Distribution 

and warehousing of the battery packs occurs at One World’s distribution center, located at 100 

Ryobi Dr. Anderson, SC 29621.  

161. One World has made and continues to make significant investments in the 

Innovation Center, including plant space and equipment, to support operations related to the 

Domestic Industry Batteries.  One World has also engaged, and continues to engage, in the 

significant employment of labor at the Innovation Center in connection with activities related to 

the Domestic Industry Batteries.  One World has also made, and continues to make, substantial 

investments in the exploitation of the Asserted Patents, including, but not limited to, through its 

engineering, research and development, testing, and customer support activities related to the 

Domestic Industry Batteries at the Innovation Center.  Each of these investments are set forth in 

Confidential Exhibit 100C, Declaration of Robert Patrick in Support of Complaint.

X. GENERAL EXCLUSION ORDER 

162. Pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2)(A), Complainants seek a general exclusion 

order to exclude all rechargeable batteries intended for use with battery powered products, 

including, but not limited to, the RYOBI™ ONE+ SYSTEM®, that infringe one or more of the 

Asserted Patents.  A general exclusion order is necessary to prevent the circumvention of an 

exclusion order limited to the products of the named Respondents, and because there is a 

widespread pattern of unauthorized use.
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A. Circumvention of a Limited Exclusion Order 

163. The Accused Products, and similar products (including counterfeit RYOBI™ 18V 

ONE+® batteries), are primarily sold via the Internet through third party e-commerce websites.  

The anonymity afforded by these third party intermediaries makes it difficult to identify and 

locate the entities which manufacture, import, and sell the Accused Products.  To the extent any 

identifying information is provided—for example, a trademark or brand name—that information 

can be altered or removed by the supplier with little effort.  As a result, any exclusion order 

limited to the named respondents would likely be subject to immediate evasion.

164. There are numerous examples of third party e-commerce websites which sell 

infringing batteries.  See Exhibits 101, 102, 103, and 104.  Consumers can access dozens, if not 

hundreds, of offers for sale by searching for “Ryobi 18v battery,” or similar terms, within each 

website’s search interface.  Id.  To the extent that an individual seller provides any information 

about the source of its infringing batteries, that information is often incomplete, inconsistent 

and/or contradictory.  Upon information and belief, such information (or lack thereof) is intended 

to deliberately obfuscate the source of the infringing battery packs.

165. For example, the ANTRobut storefront on a third party e-commerce website 

offers for sale infringing batteries under the ANTRobut® trademark.  See Exhibit 105.  At the 

same time, the seller “antrobut_US” offers for sale infringing batteries through an ENERMALL-

branded storefront on another third party e-commerce website.  See Exhibit 106.  The 

relationship, if any, between third party Li Shishun, owner of the United States Trademark 

ANTRobut® (see Exhibit 107) and a shareholder in respondent Shenzhen Laipaili (see Exhibit 

11), and respondent Shenzhen Tuo Yu, owner of the ENERMALL® mark, is unknown.  

Moreover, neither third party e-commerce website provides any information which could clarify 

any association between the two.  The ANTRobut website was likewise silent as to the source of 
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these products, and made no mention of any relationship with respondent Shenzhen Tuo Yu, the 

owner of the ENERMALL® trademark.  See Exhibit 108 (last visited February 18, 2019).

166. The relationship between other respondents and, in some instances, between 

respondents and potentially interested third parties, is equally obscure.  For example, respondent 

Shenzhen Rich Hao is the registrant and/or owner of the Fhybat® and Topbatt® trademarks in the 

United States and, on information and belief, manufactures and/or sells infringing battery packs 

bearing those marks.  See Exhibits 21 and 14.  At the same time, respondent Darui Development 

also sells, and on information and belief, manufactures infringing batteries bearing the Topbatt®

trademark.  See Exhibit 53.  There is, however, no information associating Shenzhen Rich Hao 

with Darui Development, or explaining why they would both be manufacturing and/or selling 

infringing Topbatt® batteries.

167. Adding to the confusion, the Topbatt website, www.topbatt.cn, specifically 

references Darui Development Limited under the heading “about us,” which would appear to 

indicate that Darui Development is the source of the Topbatt® battery.  See Exhibit 109.  At the 

same time the Topbatt website identifies “Shenzhen Lianchengweiye Shiye Co., Ltd.” on a 

separate ‘about us’ page, using the same language used to describe Darui Development.  See

Exhibit 110.  On information and belief, Shenzhen Lianchengweiye Shiye Co., Ltd. is actually 

respondent Shenzhen Liancheng Weiye Industrial Co., Ltd., which, as identified in paragraph 27, 

supra, is the owner, by assignment, of the boetpcr® and Reoben® trademarks in China.  It is 

unclear whether Darui Development and Shenzhen Industrial are the related entities, and, most 

importantly, which is ultimately responsible for the manufacture and sale of the infringing 

Topbatt® battery.  Finally, while there is no reference to Shenzhen Rich Hao on the Topbatt 

website, business records indicate that third party Mr. Xiumin Zhang is associated with both 
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respondent Shenzhen Industrial (as a Supervisor, see Exhibit 15) and respondent Shenzhen Rich 

Hao (as a shareholder, see Exhibit 111).

168. Likewise, as set forth above, third party Mr. Xiaoling Yu is the registrant and/or 

owner of the United States Trademark energup®.  See Exhibit 6.  On information and belief, Mr. 

Yu is also a shareholder of respondent Shenzhen Laipaili (see Exhibit 11), which is itself the 

registrant and/or owner of the European Union Trademark energup®.  See Exhibit 10.  At the 

same time, Mr. Yu is also identified as a shareholder of respondent Dongguan Electronic (see

Exhibit 5), the owner of both the energup® and Powilling® trademarks in China.  Mr. Yu is also 

identified as the “Business Name” on the ANTRobut storefront on a third party e-commerce 

website which sells infringing battery packs under the ANTRobut brand.7 See Exhibit 112.

169. On information and belief, in an effort to boost transparency, at least one third 

party e-commerce website has started requiring its sellers to disclose their business name and 

address on their Internet storefronts.  See, e.g., Exhibits 50, 54, 58, 62, 66, 70, 73, 79, 83, 86, and 

92.  As seen in the referenced exhibits, however, such information can be incomplete and, on 

information and belief, does not necessarily reflect the actual source(s) of the battery packs that 

are offered for sale on that storefront.

170. The Accused Products themselves provide little, if any, additional information 

regarding their source.  As set forth above, Complainants are in receipt of infringing batteries 

from each named Respondent.  In all but one instance, neither the battery itself nor the packaging 

in which it arrived included any information which could be used to identify the specific source 

of the battery pack, such as the name of the manufacturer or a return address.  The only 

7 Because Mr. Yu is believed to be a natural person, he has not been named as a proposed respondent in 
this Complaint. 
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information regarding source was a “Made in China” label and, in some instances, a trademark.  

See, e.g., Exhibit 85.

171. Based on the near-total lack of identifying information available through the 

primary sales channels for the infringing batteries, as well as secondary sources, such as branded 

websites, or even the battery packs themselves, it is clear that the suppliers of such battery packs 

could easily change (or remove entirely) their names, online storefronts, and/or associated 

trademarks/brands to circumvent any limited exclusion order.  A general exclusion order is 

therefore necessary to prevent the circumvention of an exclusion order limited to the named 

Respondents, and to provide complete relief to Complainants.

B. Widespread Pattern of Unauthorized Use 

172. Infringement of the Asserted Patents is widespread.  As set forth above, infringing 

rechargeable battery packs are sold on numerous third party e-commerce websites.  Searching 

those four websites for “Ryobi 18v battery” results in hundreds of offers for sale of unlicensed 

replacement battery packs, both branded and unbranded, that are intended for use with the 

RYOBI™ ONE+ SYSTEM®.  See Exhibits 101, 102, 103, and 104. 

173. Despite great diligence, Complainants’ efforts to identify and remove listings for 

such counterfeit batteries, including battery packs which infringe one or more of the Asserted 

Patents, on the Internet generally, and third party e-commerce websites specifically, have largely 

been unsuccessful.  Moreover, on information and belief, the number of infringing products 

appearing online has either remained the same, or increased, despite One World’s continuing 

efforts to ‘take down’ counterfeit products, including products which infringe one or more of the 

Asserted Patents.

174. Since at least 2017, One World, and/or parties on its behalf, has monitored 

various e-commerce websites in order to identify and deter unlicensed entities from offering for 
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sale and/or selling counterfeit batteries, including battery packs which infringe one or more of 

the Asserted Patents.  Specifically, One World’s enforcement efforts focused primarily on 

infringement of One World’s trademarks, including the ONE+® mark, but necessarily implicated 

the entire counterfeit battery pack, including the design features protected by the Asserted 

Patents.  As a result of its ongoing efforts, One World has identified dozens of infringers across 

multiple e-commerce platforms, including respondents named in this Complaint.

175. For example, on April 19, 2017, One World, through its outside legal counsel, 

sent a cease and desist letter to, inter alia, respondent Shenzhen Runsensheng regarding the sale 

of Enegitech® batteries on several third party e-commerce websites.  See Exhibit 113.  Likewise, 

on January 29, 2018, One World, through its outside legal counsel, sent a cease and desist letter 

to Shenzhen MingYang and third party Mr. Juan Li regarding the sale of certain Biswaye®

batteries on two third party e-commerce websites.  See Exhibit 114.  As demonstrated in this 

Complaint, infringing Enegitech® and Biswaye® batteries continue to be sold, as do many other 

infringing brands, despite One World’s continuing enforcement efforts.

176. The large number of entities manufacturing and selling infringing batteries under 

a wide variety of names and aliases have made it difficult, if not impossible, for Complainants to 

enforce their intellectual property rights on an infringer-by-infringer basis.  A general exclusion 

order is therefore necessary to remedy this widespread pattern of unauthorized use, and to 

provide complete relief to Complainants.

XI. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Complainants respectfully request that the United States International 

Trade Commission: 

A. Institute an immediate investigation, pursuant to Section 337(b)(1) of the Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended, 19 C.F.R. § 1337, into the violation by Respondents of Section 337 
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arising from the importation into the United States, sale for importation, and/or sale within the 

United States after importation of Respondents’ batteries that infringe the ’868, ’353, and/or ’944 

patents; 

B. Schedule and conduct a hearing pursuant to Section 337(c), for purposes of 

receiving evidence and hearing argument concerning whether there has been a violation of 

Section 337 and, following the hearing, determine that there has been a violation of Section 337; 

C. Issue a permanent general exclusion order, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d), 

forbidding entry into the United States all battery packs that infringe the ’868, ’353, and/or ’944 

patents; 

D. In the alternative, issue a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to 19 

U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1), forbidding entry into the United States all battery packs, made by or on 

behalf of Respondents, that infringe the ’868, ’353, and/or ’944 patents; 

E. Issue permanent cease and desist orders, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), 

directing each Respondent, or other acting on its behalf, to cease and desist from importing, 

marketing, advertising, demonstrating, distributing, warehousing inventory for distribution, 

selling, offering for sale, using, or transferring (except for export) battery packs that infringe the 

’868, ’353, and/or ’944 patents; 

F. Impose a bond, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j), upon importation of any battery 

packs that infringe the ’868, ’353, and/or ’944 patents during the Presidential review period; and 

G. Grant all such other and further relief as the Commission deems appropriate based 

on the facts complained of herein and as determined by the investigation. 
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Dated: December 29, 2020 Respectfully Submitted, 

Eric S. Namrow 
Riccardo S. Macchiaroli 
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP 
1111 Pennsylvania Ave, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004-2541 
Telephone: (202) 739-3000 
Facsimile: (202) 739-3001 

Jason C. White 
Scott D. Sherwin 
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP 
77 West Wacker Dr., 5th Floor 
Chicago, IL 60601-5094 
Telephone: (312) 324-1000 
Facsimile: (312) 324-1001 

Counsel for Complainants 
One World Technologies, Inc. and 
Techtronic Power Tools Technology Ltd. 



VERIFICATION 

I, Robert Patrick, hereby declare and state, in accordance with 19 C.F.R. § 210.4(c) and 

210.12(a), that the following statements are true: 

1. I am the Sr. Vice President/ General Manager Product Management CPT for One 

World Technologies, Inc., and I am duly authorized to sign this verification on behalf of 

Complainants One World Technologies, Inc. and Techtronic Power Tools Technology Ltd. 

(collectively, the "Complainants"); 

2. I have read the Complaint and am aware of its contents.

3. To the best ofmy knowledge, information, and belief, formed after a reasonable

inquiry under the circumstances, (a) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions in the 

Complaint are warranted by existing law or by a non-frivolous argument for the extension, 

modification, or reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law, and (b) the allegations 

and other factual contentions in the Complaint have evidentiary support or, if specifically so 

identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further 

investigation or discovery; and 

4. The Complaint is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass

or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of the investigation or related 

proceedings. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on December 14, 2020, in Anderson, South Carolina. 

/)/l/2<(__
Robert Patrick "-------
Sr. Vice President/ 
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General Manager Product Management CPT 

One World Teclmologies, Inc. 




